The Senate

Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs

Native Title Amendment (Technical Amendments) Bill 2007 [Provisions]

May 2007

© Commonwealth of Australia

ISBN: 978-0-642-71796-2

This document was printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Department of the Senate, Parliament House, Canberra.

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

Members

Senator Guy Barnett, **Chair**, LP, TAS Senator Patricia Crossin, **Deputy Chair**, ALP, NT Senator Andrew Bartlett, AD, QLD Senator Marise Payne, LP, NSW Senator Stephen Parry, LP, TAS Senator Linda Kirk, ALP, SA Senator Joe Ludwig, ALP, QLD Senator Russell Trood, LP, QLD

Participating Member

Senator Rachel Siewert, AG, WA

Secretariat

Ms Jackie Morris Ms Sophie Power Mr Michael Masters Secretary Principal Research Officer Executive Assistant

Suite S1. 61Telephone:(02) 6277 3560Parliament HouseFax:(02) 6277 5794CANBERRA ACT 2600Email: legcon.sen@aph.gov.au

TABLE OF CONTENTS

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE iii		
ABBREVIATIONS	vii	
RECOMMENDATIONS	ix	
CHAPTER 1	1	
INTRODUCTION	1	
Background	1	
Purpose of the Bill	2	
Conduct of the inquiry	2	
Acknowledgment	2	
Note of references	2	
CHAPTER 2	3	
OVERVIEW OF THE BILL	3	
Schedule 1: minor and technical amendments	3	
Schedule 2: Native Title Representative Bodies	5	
Schedule 3: Prescribed Bodies Corporate	7	
Schedule 4: technical amendments relating to legislative instruments	9	
CHAPTER 3	11	
KEY ISSUES	11	
Internal review of registration decisions (proposed sections 190E and 190F	^z) 11	
Amendments relating to PBCs (Schedule 3)	13	
Defects in authorisation processes	17	
Determinations for part of an area: section 87A	19	
Alternative state regimes	21	
Other issues	22	

Committee view	27
MINORITY REPORT BY THE AUSTRALIAN LABOR PARTY	31
Alternative State regimes	
Default Prescribed Bodies Corporate	
Reasonable fees for PBCs	
Non-Indigenous members of PBCs	
Authorisation processes	
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY SENATOR ANDREW BARTLE	TT35
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY THE AUSTRALIAN GREENS	
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY THE AUSTRALIAN GREENS Alternative state regimes	
	37
Alternative state regimes	37
Alternative state regimes Amendments relating to prescribed bodies corporate	37 37 39
Alternative state regimes Amendments relating to prescribed bodies corporate APPENDIX 1	37 37 39 39

ABBREVIATIONS

the Bill	Native Title Amendment (Technical Amendments) Bill 2007
Carpentaria Land Council	Carpentaria Land Council Aboriginal Corporation
Claims Resolution Review	Mr Graham Hiley QC and Dr Ken Levy, <i>Native Title Claims Resolution Review</i> , Commonwealth of Australia, March 2006
Court	Federal Court of Australia
EM	Explanatory Memorandum
FaCSIA	Department of Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs
HREOC	Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission
ILUA	Indigenous Land Use Agreement
LGAQ	Local Government Association of Queensland
Minerals Council	Minerals Council of Australia
Native Title Act	Native Title Act 1993
NNTC	National Native Title Council
NNTT	National Native Title Tribunal
NTRB	Native Title Representative Body
PBC	Prescribed Body Corporate
PBC Regulations	Native Title (Prescribed Bodies Corporate) Regulations 1999
PBC Report	Structures and Processes of Prescribed Bodies Corporate, Commonwealth of Australia, 2006
Registrar	Native Title Registrar

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation 1

3.79 The committee recommends that proposed subparagraph 87A(1)(c)(v) require consent from a party, with an interest in relation to land and waters in the determination area, where the Federal Court is satisfied that the interest is likely to be affected by the proposed determination.

Recommendation 2

3.80 The committee recommends that proposed section 190F be amended to clarify that an applicant may not apply to the Federal Court for review of the Native Title Registrar's decision not to accept a claim while the National Native Title Tribunal is reconsidering the claim under proposed section 190E.

Recommendation 3

3.81 The committee recommends that proposed section 190E be amended to provide that reconsideration of the Native Title Registrar's decision not to accept a claim should be carried out by a Member of the National Native Title Tribunal.

Recommendation 4

3.82 The committee recommends that the Australian Government consider amending the Bill to provide a separate, simplified process for the removal of an applicant who consents to removal, or who is deceased or incapacitated, where there is no requirement to replace that applicant.

Recommendation 5

3.83 The committee recommends that drafting errors in items 88, 123 and 138 of Schedule 1 of the Bill and section 94C of the Native Title Act be rectified.

Recommendation 6

3.84 Subject to the preceding recommendations, the committee recommends that the Senate pass the Bill.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Background

1.1 On 29 March 2007, the Senate referred the provisions of the Native Title Amendment (Technical Amendments) Bill 2007 (the Bill) to the Senate Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs, for inquiry and report by 8 May 2007.

1.2 The Bill amends the *Native Title Act 1993*, and will implement reforms to certain aspects of the native title system. The proposed reforms were originally announced in September 2005 by the Attorney-General. The Attorney-General identified six connected elements of reform:

- an independent review of native title claims resolution processes;¹
- technical amendments to the Native Title Act;
- consultation on measures to encourage the effective functioning of Prescribed Bodies Corporate (PBCs);
- reform of the native title non-claimant (respondents) financial assistance program to encourage agreement-making rather than litigation;
- measures to improve the effectiveness of Native Title Representative Bodies (NTRBs); and
- increased dialogue and consultation with state and territory governments to encourage more transparent practices in the resolution of native title.²

1.3 The first tranche of legislation to implement the reforms identified by the Attorney-General — the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006 — was passed, with amendments, by the parliament on 28 March 2007.³ This legislation was also referred to the Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee for inquiry. The report of the committee on the first tranche of legislation was presented on 23 February 2007.⁴

¹ This review was undertaken by Mr Graham Hiley QC and Dr Ken Levy; their report was released on 31 March 2006: Graham Hiley QC and Dr Ken Levy, *Native Title Claims Resolution Review*, Commonwealth of Australia, March 2006 (the Claims Resolution Review).

² Attorney-General's Department, *Native Title Reform*, 5 December 2006, <u>http://www.ag.gov.au/nativetitlesystemreform</u>, (accessed 3 April 2007).

³ See *Senate Hansard*, 26 March 2007, pp 1-13; 47-50.

⁴ This report can be found at the Department of the Senate website http://www.aph.gov.au/Senate/committee/legcon_ctte/mig_review_provisions/index.htm

Purpose of the Bill

1.4 The Bill proposes a large number of technical and minor amendments to the Native Title Act, and contains over 40 different measures.⁵ The Bill focuses on changes to the Native Title Act in the following areas:

- technical amendments to the Native Title Act to change some of the existing processes, and add new processes, for native title litigation and negotiation;
- measures to alter provisions relating to representative Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander bodies (representative bodies), including the removal of some corporate governance obligations and changing the process for reviewing decisions of representative bodies;
- measures to improve the functioning of PBCs, including the introduction of the ability to charge third-parties fees for costs associated with negotiations; and
- changes to the Native Title Act consequential to the operation of the *Legislative Instruments Act 2003*.⁶

Conduct of the inquiry

1.5 The committee advertised the inquiry in *The Australian* newspaper on 4 April, 18 April and 2 May 2007. Submissions were invited by 20 April 2007. Details of the inquiry, the Bill and associated documents were placed on the committee's website. The committee also wrote to over 60 organisations and individuals.

1.6 The committee received 12 submissions which are listed at Appendix 1. Submissions were placed on the committee's website for ease of access by the public. The committee held a public hearing in Adelaide on 2 May 2007.

Acknowledgment

1.7 The committee thanks those organisations and individuals who made submissions and gave evidence at the public hearing.

Note of references

1.8 References in this report are to individual submissions as received by the committee, not to a bound volume, References to the committee Hansard are to the proof Hansard: page numbers may vary between the proof and the official Hansard transcript.

⁵ The Hon Mr Philip Ruddock MP, Attorney-General, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 29 March 2007, p. 1.

⁶ Explanatory Memorandum (EM), p. 3.

CHAPTER 2 OVERVIEW OF THE BILL

- 2.1 This chapter discusses each of the four schedules of the Bill as follows:
- Schedule 1: minor and technical amendments;
- Schedule 2: Native Title Representative Bodies (NTRBs);
- Schedule 3: Prescribed Bodies Corporate (PBCs); and
- Schedule 4: technical amendments relating to legislative instruments.

Schedule 1: minor and technical amendments

2.2 Schedule 1 of the Bill would make a large number of minor and technical amendments to the Native Title Act. According to the Explanatory Memorandum, 'most of the amendments would clarify or improve existing provisions of the Native Title Act, although some would provide for new processes.'¹

2.3 Aspects of these technical amendments have been subject to a public consultation process. The Attorney-General's Department released an initial discussion paper on the technical amendments for public comment in November 2005, followed by a second discussion paper in November 2006.²

- 2.4 These amendments are discussed below in the following broad categories:
- future act and Indigenous Land Use Agreement (ILUA) processes;
- processes for making and resolving native title claims;
- obligations of the Registrar in relation to the registration of claims; and
- other amendments.

Future act and ILUA processes

- 2.5 Schedule 1 includes amendments to:
- improve the process for notifying ILUAs (see, for example, items 7, 9-13, 18-19, 27-28);

¹ *Explanatory Memorandum* (EM), p. 6. The following discussion of Schedule 1 of the Bill draws heavily on pp 6-7 of the EM.

² See also Attorney-General's Department and FaCSIA, *Submission 6*, p. 6 and attachments A-D. Further details of the consultation process, including copies of the discussion papers, are available on the Attorney-General's Department's website at: <u>http://www.ag.gov.au/www/agd/agd.nsf/Page/Indigenouslawandnativetitle_Nativetitle_Technic</u> <u>alamendmentstotheNativeTitleAct</u> (accessed 4 April 2007).

- ensure the National Native Title Tribunal (NNTT) provides a report after an inquiry into an objection to registering an alternative procedure ILUA (see especially item 95);
- include automatic weather stations as facilities for services to the public for the purposes of the future act regime (see especially item 34);
- enable the combination of two or more existing leases, licences, permits or authorities to be a 'permissible renewal' for the purposes of the future acts regime (see especially item 33); and
- enable assistance to be provided by the Native Title Registrar (Registrar) to parties seeking to register an ILUA (see especially items 6, 17 and 26).

Processes for making and resolving native title claims

2.6 Schedule 1 also includes provisions to:

4

- amend application provisions to require certain types of information to be provided (see, for example, items 71-73, 76);
- amend notification provisions to ensure appropriate parties are notified of new or amended claims (see, for example, items 80, 81 and 86);
- streamline the process for replacing the native title applicant in claims (see for example, items 79 and 82);
- give the Federal Court greater ability to deal with questions about the authorisation of claims which arise during proceedings and ensure claimants identify the basis of authorisation for claims (see especially item 88);³
- encourage access by parties to hearings (such as directions hearings) through teleconferences and other facilities (see especially item 85); and
- clarify the timeframe in which a respondent may simply withdraw from a proceeding (see especially item 87).

Obligations of the Registrar in relation to the registration of claims

- 2.7 Schedule 1 also contains amendments which would:
- require the timely application of the registration test, particularly where the exercise of procedural rights would flow from registration of a claim (see especially item 101);
- exempt amended claims from going through the registration test where the amendments would not affect the interests of other parties, such as where the area of the claim is being reduced or there is a change of name or address (see especially item 102);⁴ and

³ See also recommendation 13 of the Claims Resolution Review.

⁴ See also recommendation 12 of the Claims Resolution Review.

• provide for internal review of registration decisions by the Registrar (or his or her delegate) in addition to the existing provision for review by the Court (see especially item 107).

Other amendments

- 2.8 Other amendments made by this Schedule would:
- restrict the use of information obtained by the NNTT in exercising its assistance function (see items 5, 16, 20, 21, 25, 30, 57, 66, 68, 89 and 113);
- clarify the scope of alternative state regimes under section 43 (see for example items 61-63)
- make clear that a determination for an alternative state regime must be revoked where that regime ceases to have ongoing effect, thereby ensuring resumption of the right to negotiate provisions of the Native Title Act (see items 64 and 65);
- amend sections 87 and 87A in response to recommendation 9 of this committee's report on the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006, which recommended the government consider amending section 87A (items 90-91);
- change notification provisions to ensure that native title holders, who are yet to set up a PBC, are notified of future acts where the PBC would otherwise have been notified (see for example items 35-37 and 43-54);
- clarify that certification of a claim or ILUA by an NTRB is still valid if that NTRB is subsequently derecognised or ceases to exist (see item 106);
- establish a more flexible scheme for payments held under right to negotiate processes (in particular, replacing the existing trust regime with a bank guarantee regime see items 55, 58-61 and 69); and
- clarify when information is added to, amended or removed from the registers setting out details of native title claims, determinations and ILUAs (see, for example, items 100, 108, 109 and 112).

2.9 Finally, Schedule 1 would also make amendments to adjust or remove misleading or ambiguous notes; provide for other notes to be included to assist navigation of the Native Title Act; and amend drafting errors.⁵

Schedule 2: Native Title Representative Bodies

Background

2.10 Section 203B of the Native Title Act sets out the functions of NTRBs. In summary, they include:

• to assist and facilitate the preparation of native title applications;

⁵ EM, p. 7. See, for example, items 1, 2, 41, 77, 115 and 116.

- to provide written certification of applications for determinations of native title, and related processes for land or waters in the NTRB's area;
- to promote dispute resolution between constituents about native title applications and related processes;
- to identify and notify, as far as possible, those who hold or may hold native title over lands in the NTRB's area which may be the subject of native title processes;
- to be a party to ILUAs;
- to undertake internal review of its decisions; and
- other functions authorised by the Act.

Proposed amendments

2.11 Schedule 2 of the Bill will amend provisions governing NTRBs. In particular, Schedule 2 of the Bill includes measures to:

- repeal inoperative provisions (see especially items 1-3);
- avoid duplication by ensuring that NTRBs are not subject to provisions of the *Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act 1997* which reflect obligations already imposed by their incorporation statutes (item 4);⁶
- improve the process for reviewing decisions by NTRBs not to provide assistance to Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander persons (item 5 see further below); and
- simplify and clarify provisions dealing with the transfer of documents and records from a former NTRB to its replacement (item 6).⁷

2.12 One of the more substantive amendments in Schedule 2 is contained in item 5, which amends the process for reviewing decisions by NTRBs not to assist Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander persons.⁸ Currently, section 203FB allows an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander person affected by an NTRB's decision not to assist him or her to apply to the Secretary of the Department of Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs for a review of the decision. Under existing subsection 203FB(2), the Secretary must appoint an external expert to conduct the review.

2.13 Proposed paragraph 203FB(2)(a) would allow the Secretary to review assistance decisions. The Secretary will retain the ability to appoint an external expert

⁶ See also discussion of this issue at: Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee, *Report* on the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006 [Provisions], February 2007, pp 32-33.

⁷ EM, p. 67.

⁸ This item will repeal existing section 203FB and replace it with proposed sections 203FB, 203FBA and 203FBB.

where more complex issues arise.⁹ The Explanatory Memorandum states that the proposed amendments will 'ensure that the process for reviewing assistance decisions is more transparent, efficient and timely.¹⁰

Schedule 3: Prescribed Bodies Corporate

2.14 Schedule 3 of the Bill proposes amendments relating to the functioning of Prescribed Bodies Corporate (PBCs). In particular, Schedule 3 of the Bill includes measures designed to:

- ensure that regulations can provide for the replacement of PBCs at the initiation of the native title holders under all possible circumstances (see items 1-6); and
- partially implement two recommendations made in the *Report on Structures* and *Processes of Prescribed Bodies Corporate* (the PBC Report).¹¹

Background¹²

2.15 Under section 55 of the Native Title Act, where the Federal Court determines that native title exists, the native title holders must establish a body corporate to administer their native title rights and interests. The native title holders must elect to establish one of two alternative kinds of PBC. The alternatives are:

- the native title is held in trust by the PBC (a trust PBC); or
- the native title is held by the common law holders of native title and the PBC acts as their agent (an agent PBC).

2.16 These alternatives have different legal consequences and, in particular, affect the sort of legal relationship that the native title holders have with the PBC. If the native title holders make no choice, the Court selects the second alternative.

2.17 When the Court approves the PBC, the PBC is placed on the National Native Title Register, which is maintained by the NNTT. Once registered, the PBC is the legal entity and contact for that group of native title holders. The PBC conducts business between the native title holders and other people with an interest in the area such as pastoralists, governments or developers.

⁹ Proposed paragraph 203FB(2)(b); see also EM, p. 70. Note that item 9 of Schedule 2 would also allow the Secretary to delegate the powers in proposed sections 203FBA and 203FBB.

¹⁰ EM, p. 70; see also Attorney-General's Department and FaCSIA, *Submission 6*, pp 7-8.

¹¹ *Structures and Processes of Prescribed Bodies Corporate*, Commonwealth of Australia 2006, <u>http://www.ag.gov.au/www/agd/rwpattach.nsf/VAP/(1E76C1D5D1A37992F0B0C1C4DB8794</u> <u>2E)~Structures+and+processes+of+PBC.pdf/\$file/Structures+and+processes+of+PBC.pdf</u> (accessed 4 April 2007).

¹² Material for this section of the report was sourced from the National Native Title Tribunal, "What is a Prescribed Body Corporate?" *Fact Sheet No.2d*, Available at: <u>http://www.nntt.gov.au/publications/1021859460_4854.html</u> (accessed 4 April 2007).

2.18 In October 2006 the Attorney-General and the Minister for Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs released a report entitled *Structures and Processes of Prescribed Bodies Corporate* (the PBC Report).¹³ The PBC Report was part of the six-part plan for native title reform announced in September 2005. The PBC Report noted that the primary roles of PBCs are to:

- protect and manage determined native title in accordance with the wishes of the broader native title holding group; and
- ensure certainty for governments and other parties with an interest in accessing or regulating native title lands and waters by providing a legal entity through which to conduct business with the native title holders.¹⁴

2.19 The PBC report made 15 recommendations, many of which can be implemented administratively or through amendments to the *Native Title (Prescribed Bodies Corporate) Regulations 1999* (the PBC Regulations). The Native Title Amendment Bill 2006 implemented two recommendations from the PBC Report. Schedule 3 of this Bill would implement two further recommendations: recommendations 11 and 15.

PBC amendments proposed by the Bill

Replacement of PBCs

2.20 The Native Title Act envisages that regulations may provide for the replacement of PBCs at the initiation of the common law holders. For example, existing subsection 56(4) would allow for the replacement of a trust PBC by another trust PBC, and section 60 would allow for the replacement of an agent PBC by another agent PBC. However, according to the Explanatory Memorandum, existing regulation-making powers may not allow an agent PBC to be replaced by a trust PBC, or a trust PBC to be replaced by an agent PBC. Further, they may not allow an agent PBC to become a trust PBC (that is, to change its functions from those of an agent PBC to those of a trust PBC), or a trust PBC to become an agent PBC. Items 1 - 6 will remedy these deficiencies.¹⁵

PBC Report recommendations

2.21 Recommendation 11 of the PBC Report proposed that the Native Title Act should be amended to authorise a PBC to charge a third party for costs and disbursements reasonably incurred in performing its statutory functions under the Native Title Act or PBC Regulations at the request of the third party. It also

¹³ *Structures and Processes of Prescribed Bodies Corporate*, Commonwealth of Australia 2006, <u>http://www.ag.gov.au/www/agd/rwpattach.nsf/VAP/(1E76C1D5D1A37992F0B0C1C4DB8794</u> <u>2E)~Structures+and+processes+of+PBC.pdf/\$file/Structures+and+processes+of+PBC.pdf</u> (accessed 4 April 2007).

¹⁴ PBC Report, p. 6.

¹⁵ EM, p. 74.

recommended that the amendments provide for an appropriate authority to investigate such arrangements on request, to ensure the costs were reasonably incurred. Item 7 of Schedule 3 inserts proposed sections 60AB and 60AC which deal with fees for services provided by PBCs, and the giving of opinions about those fees by the Registrar of Aboriginal Corporations.¹⁶

2.22 Recommendation 15 of the PBC Report related to the development of a mechanism for the determination of a 'default' PBC in appropriate circumstances, such as where there is no functioning PBC nominated by the native title holders. Schedule 3 would permit regulations to be made under which a particular government funded body or bodies (a default PBC) could perform the functions of an agent PBC (but not those of a trust PBC) in relation to determined native title rights and interests in particular circumstances. These circumstances include:

- where the common law holders fail to nominate a PBC in conjunction with a native title determination (see proposed subsection 59(2));
- where a liquidator is appointed to a PBC (see proposed subparagraphs 56(4)(d)(ii) and 60(a)(ii)); and
- at the initiation of common law holders (see proposed subparagraph 56(4)(d)(i), proposed paragraph 56(7)(a) and proposed subparagraph 60(a)(i).¹⁷

Schedule 4: technical amendments relating to legislative instruments

2.23 Schedule 4 will make technical amendments to the Native Title Act to reflect changes made by the *Legislative Instruments Act 2003*. Currently, the Native Title Act provides that a number of determinations, instruments and approvals are disallowable instruments for the purposes of section 46A of the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901*. However, section 46A of the Acts Interpretation Act was repealed in 2003. Section 6 of the Legislative Instruments Act now provides that instruments that were disallowable instruments for the purposes of section 46A of the Acts Interpretation Act are legislative instruments. Schedule 4 therefore amends various provisions of the Native Title Act to refer to legislative instruments, rather than disallowable instruments.

¹⁶ EM, p. 78; Attorney-General's Department and FaCSIA, *Submission 6*, pp 8-9.

¹⁷ EM, pp 75-76; Attorney-General's Department and FaCSIA, *Submission 6*, pp 9-10.

¹⁸ EM, p. 81; see also Attorney-General's Department and FaCSIA, *Submission* 6, p. 10.

CHAPTER 3

KEY ISSUES

3.1 Most evidence received by the committee expressed in-principle support for the general direction of the Bill. However, concerns were raised in relation to the following matters, which are discussed in turn below:

- internal review of registration decisions (proposed sections 190E and 190F);
- amendments relating to PBCs (Schedule 3);
- defects in authorisation processes;
- determinations for part of an area (section 87A);
- alternative state regimes; and
- other issues.

Internal review of registration decisions (proposed sections 190E and 190F)

3.2 Item 107 of Schedule 1 would provide for internal review of registration decisions by the Native Title Registrar (or his or her delegate) in addition to the existing provision for review by the Federal Court. In particular, proposed section 190E provides that where a claim is not accepted for registration under section 190A, the applicant may apply to the Registrar to reconsider the claim.

3.3 The National Native Title Tribunal (NNTT) submitted that a Member of the Tribunal, rather than the Registrar, should conduct a reconsideration under proposed section 190E. The NNTT explained:

...the ramifications of not being accepted for registration are now potentially greater than they were prior to the amendment of s. 190D by the *Native Title Amendment Act 2007*. Not being accepted for registration because of a failure to meet one or more of the merit conditions of the registration test may lead to dismissal of the application by the Federal Court pursuant to ss. 190D(6) and (7) of the *Native Title Act 1993*.¹

3.4 The NNTT stated that:

Having the reconsideration under s. 190E conducted by a Member would ensure that the reconsideration is undertaken by a statutory office holder who is independent of the Registrar and could give the applicant greater confidence that the application was considered afresh without regard to the previous decision.²

¹ Submission 4, p. 1.

² *Submission 4*, p. 1.

3.5 In evidence to the committee the Registrar explained further:

As a matter of practice, most of my delegates are located in one office. They are in Sydney. We are not a large organisation. We only have 230 full-time equivalent employees, unlike Centrelink or Immigration, where you can have internal review officers in other parts of the organisation because the volume of matters being reviewed is far greater. We do not have the huge office and employee infrastructure to do that...The advantages of that are that you get a collegiate atmosphere, and given this is a particular area—a peculiar area of the law, in a sense—you get a common understanding developing over time amongst those people who have the job of carrying out the registration test.³

3.6 Mr Martin Dore of the North Queensland Land Council supported the proposal for internal review of registration test decisions and the NNTT's submission that reviews should be conducted by a member:

I would support that, as long as the member had a legal background. The registration test has turned out to be—due to various court decisions and interpretations of the tribunal delegates themselves—highly technical, highly legalised and, unfortunately in my opinion, far from what it set out to be originally.⁴

3.7 In its submission, the National Native Title Council (NNTC), while noting its opposition to the dismissal of claims that do not pass the registration test,⁵ pointed out that section 190F 'does not clearly indicate that applicants can first seek internal reconsideration of a registration decision and then, if not satisfied, apply to the Federal Court for formal review'. The NNTC concluded that this proposed provision should be clarified.⁶

3.8 The Carpentaria Land Council similarly observed that proposed sections 190E and 190F need to be clarified. For example, the Carpentaria Land Council pointed out that 'there is nothing to stipulate that an application cannot be made to the Federal Court while an application is also with the Native Title Registrar'.⁷ The Carpentaria Land Council further suggested that:

It would be helpful if wording was inserted either in s 190E or in a note under that section referring to s 24FE(b)(ii). This is important to alert practitioners that for s 24FA protection to occur, reconsideration of an

12

³ *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 14.

⁴ *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 2.

⁵ This issue was raised in the committee's inquiry into the provisions of the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006. See also Mr Martin Dore, North Queensland Land Council, *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 2.

⁶ Submission 5, p. 3.

⁷ *Submission 7*, pp 4-5.

adverse registration test decision must be applied for within 28 days of the s 190D(1) notice.⁸

Department response

3.9 On the issue of whether reconsideration of registration decisions should be conducted by the Registrar or a Member of the NNTT, a representative of the Attorney-General's Department noted that the Department was still considering the issue, but was inclined to the view that the Registrar and his delegates should carry out reviews given their considerable experience in dealing with registration decisions.⁹ The Department further explained:

Other measures in the bill also seek to maintain a separation between members and the information that is held by the tribunal in relation to its various functions and the information that can be passed to members in the claims resolution or mediation function. So we think, consistent with that, there are some sound reasons to keep the members primarily involved in the mediation function rather than in the administrative functions...that the registrar carries out.¹⁰

3.10 The Attorney-General's Department also submitted that the interaction between proposed sections 190E and 190F was clear:

We think that the provisions are sufficiently clear: a party has the choice of seeking internal review by the registrar or of going directly to the court. If a party does seek internal review by the registrar, it can then go to the court if it chooses. So there are two paths, and we believe that that is sufficiently clear. But, of course, if the committee is of the view that it is not sufficiently clear then we can consider whether a note should be inserted in the legislation.¹¹

Amendments relating to PBCs (Schedule 3)

Fees for services

3.11 Several submissions commented on proposed sections 60AB and 60AC which deal with fees for services provided by PBCs, and the giving of opinions about those fees by the Registrar of Aboriginal Corporations (see item 7, Schedule 3).

3.12 The NNTC regarded the proposal for a fee regime for PBCs as 'discriminatory' and 'uncertain'.¹² The NNTC submitted that PBCs can already charge

⁸ *Submission 7*, p. 4. Note that the Carpentaria Land Council also raised objections to the dismissal of claims on the basis that they have not passed the registration test.

⁹ *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, pp 25-26.

¹⁰ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 26.

¹¹ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, pp 21-22.

¹² Submission 5, p. 5.

fees for services which they provide, just as any other incorporated body can. The NNTC therefore argued that the proposed fee regime in reality therefore only restricts the ability of PBCs to charge fees, rather than enabling them to do so.¹³ Similarly, the North Queensland Land Council gave evidence that:

[PBCs] are registered corporations and there is no reason, in my opinion, why they cannot charge for their services now. To impose a statutory regime, in fact, controls and constricts them rather than gives them some freedom to act.¹⁴

3.13 However, it is noted that the PBC Report explained that:

Under the existing legislative regime, PBCs are not able to seek reimbursement from or charge third parties for costs and disbursements expended or incurred (or estimated to be expended or incurred) by the PBC in performing its functions under the NTA [Native Title Act] or the PBC Regulations. Essentially, this is because a fee may only be charged for the performance of a statutory duty or function if the statute provides for such a charge either expressly or by necessary implication. While this would probably not prevent the PBC from applying moneys obtained through an agreement to offset its negotiation costs, it would be preferable to provide clear authority for PBCs to recover the costs incurred in performing its functions.¹⁵

3.14 The NNTC further objected to what it described as 'intrusive' provisions enabling the Registrar of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Corporations to give binding opinions on whether fees are or are not payable in any given situation.¹⁶

3.15 The Minerals Council of Australia (the Minerals Council) recognised the need for adequate resourcing and funding of PBCs. It also supported the 'Bill's formalisation of existing practice where industry pays additional commercial costs associated with specific [PBC] activities.'¹⁷ However, the Minerals Council strongly opposed the ability of PBCs to charge a fee for fulfilling their core statutory responsibilities. The Minerals Council argued that funding for these core statutory functions should be provided by government. It therefore recommended that proposed section 60AB be amended so that a PBC may only charge a fee for additional costs incurred directly in relation to specific commercial negotiation. The Minerals Council further recommended the deletion of subsection 60AB(2) (which allows regulations to provide for a PBC to charge certain persons a fee for costs incurred in performing other functions specified in the regulations).¹⁸

- 17 *Submission* 8, p. 3.
- 18 Submission 8, p. 3.

¹³ Submission 5, p. 5.

¹⁴ Mr Martin Dore, *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 4.

¹⁵ PBC Report, p. 25.

¹⁶ Submission 5, p. 5.

3.16 Ergon Energy agreed with the 'thrust of this amendment' noting that:

Usually, a native title agreement (including an ILUA) is sought by a person (other than in a claims resolution context), for a purpose which relates to advancing the interests of that person (for example a new mine, land development project etc). In those circumstances, where a Registered Native Title Body Corporate ("RNTBC") is asked to expend its time and resources on negotiating an agreement to enable the project or activity to proceed, it is reasonable that the RNTBC's costs be recovered from the person seeking the benefit.¹⁹

3.17 However, Ergon Energy suggested that the same rationale does not apply where the person is seeking a native title agreement for the purposes of providing a benefit solely or primarily to the PBC (or the native title holders which the PBC represents). Ergon Energy stated that an example of this would be where a native title agreement was required in order to construct a remote area power station which would provide electricity primarily to the native title holders. Ergon Energy therefore proposed that an additional exemption be included in proposed section 60AB to cover these circumstances.²⁰

Department response

3.18 A representative of the Department of Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs (FaCSIA) explained that the purpose of these amendments was to ensure PBCs had the power to charge a fee for the performance of their statutory functions:

It has been put to you that PBCs are no different from any other incorporated body, they should be able to charge essentially whatever the market can bear and there is no need for any form of legislation in this area. I respectfully disagree, because it would appear to us [that] PBCs, where they are performing a statutory function, may lack the legal power to do so. It is accepted as a matter of law that a fee can only be charged for the performance of a statutory duty or function if the statute provides for such a charge, either expressly or by necessary implication.²¹

3.19 FaCSIA also advised:

There may be some confusion about the non-statutory costs of the PBCs, which have been an issue that I know the Minerals Council has made a submission to this committee about before. The government is addressing that by agreeing that it will be considering funding for the operational costs of PBCs on a case-by-case basis in the future. As a result of the combination of clarifying that the PBCs have the power [to] charge for their

21 Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 16.

¹⁹ *Submission 3*, p. 3.

²⁰ *Submission 3*, p. 4; see also Mr Neil Webley, Ergon Energy, *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, pp 7-8.

statutory functions and of a change in policy in relation to the operational costs of the PBCs and other changes which arose out of the PBC report...it will now be on a much clearer, firmer footing than has been the case.²²

3.20 In relation to the proposal from Ergon Energy for an exemption preventing a PBC from charging a fee where the sole or primary beneficiary of the agreement is the native title holders, a representative from FaCSIA noted:

... if it is a proposal that is to the benefit of the native title holders clearly it is something that native title holders can themselves take into account as to whether they charge any fee at all, and it may not be appropriate to put in place a legislative ouster.²³

Default PBCs

3.21 The Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (HREOC) was concerned about two aspects of the amendments relating to default PBCs.²⁴ Its first concern related to the proposed provisions allowing regulations to prescribe not only the kinds of body corporate that may be determined as a trust PBC or an agent PBC, but also the actual body corporate that will be the trust or agent PBC (items 1, 2, 5 and 6 of Schedule 3).²⁵

3.22 In particular, HREOC objected to the notion that regulations might be used to 'dictate' to native title holders the body that will hold their native title and/or act as their exclusive agent in relation to the protection and management of their native title. HREOC described this as a 'radical shift' in the current legislative policy, because the choice of body would not be made by the Court (having regard to the wishes of the native title holders), but by the regulations. HREOC also observed that there had not been any consultation on this proposal with native title holders, claimants or representative bodies.²⁶

3.23 HREOC's second major concern was that items 1, 2 and 6 of Schedule 3 authorise regulations allowing another person or body, instead of the Federal Court, to determine the PBC that will replace the PBC originally determined by the Court. HREOC argued that 'this is another radical departure from the existing legal policy by which the determination of the trust or agent PBC is exclusively within the jurisdiction of the Court'. HREOC further expressed its view that:

The Court is the appropriate body to determine which body corporate will hold the native title and/or perform the agency functions in relation to the

²² Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 19.

²³ *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 16; see also Mr Martin Dore, North Queensland Land Council, *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 4.

²⁴ See discussion in Chapter 2 of this report.

²⁵ Submission 10, pp 8-9.

²⁶ *Submission 10*, p. 9.

native title. It is not appropriate that power to re-determine that body corporate be potentially vested in a Commonwealth (or State or Territory) public servant. This is particularly so where that public servant could be determining a request by the native title holders to "transfer out" of a Commonwealth sponsored prescribed default PBC.²⁷

3.24 HREOC therefore recommended that items 1, 2 and 6 of Schedule 3 not be enacted to the extent that they authorise regulations:

- to prescribe the particular body corporate that may be determined as a PBC; or
- that would allow a person or body other than the Court to determine a PBC.²⁸

3.25 The NNTC suggested in relation to the appointment of default PBCs that proposed subsection 59(1) should restrict the regulation-making power by stating that bodies that may be PBCs must not be bodies that have members who are not Indigenous.²⁹

Department response

3.26 A representative of FaCSIA advised that the Australian Government's intention was that the Court would continue to determine PBCs:

Practically speaking...we cannot currently foresee circumstances in which a body other than a court might determine the body. But we thought it useful to put a little bit of scope in this regulation-making power, in case that should prove necessary.³⁰

Defects in authorisation processes

3.27 The NNTC and Carpentaria Land Council raised concerns with the proposed amendments relating to authorisation processes for native title applications.³¹

3.28 More specifically, the NNTC opposed the amendments contained in items 72 and 76 of Schedule 1 of the Bill. Item 72 amends section 62 of the Native Title Act. It would require the applicant to include a statement (in the affidavit accompanying the application) setting out details of the decision-making process which authorised the applicant to make the claimant application.³² Item 76 would make a similar amendment to the requirements for making a compensation application.

²⁷ *Submission 10*, p. 11.

²⁸ Submission 10, pp 10-11.

²⁹ Submission 5, pp 4-5.

³⁰ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 25.

³¹ See also National Indigenous Council, *Submission 2*, pp 1-2.

³² This includes indicating whether the decision-making process complied with section 251A or 251B of the Native Title Act: see EM, p. 42. Note that the EM refers to paragraphs 251(a) and 251(b). The committee presumes this should refer to sections 251A and 251B.

3.29 The NNTC felt that these amendments were 'unnecessary' and would 'only add yet another layer of complexity for native title claimants to an already legally complex process'. The NNTC argued that:

Clarification of authorisation is already provided for in s190C of the NTA [Native Title Act] through the certification process or through proof of authorisation. Schedule R of the current application form ("Form 1") already requires that proof of authorisation be comprehensively set out.³³

3.30 Mr Martin Dore of the North Queensland Land Council gave evidence of the practical difficulties associated with applicants being required to provide evidence of authorisation:

Sometimes that information is best put by someone other than the applicants. An example might be that someone is appointed to be one of the applicants by being nominated for authorisation at a meeting out of respect for their position as a senior elder in the group who may not even be at the meeting but who may have previously indicated their consent to so act. For them to then have to swear an affidavit about matters that they have no direct knowledge of seems somewhat contradictory.³⁴

3.31 However, the Registrar of the NNTT noted that if the new provision was complied with it would reduce the work of the NNTT in applying the registration test:

One of the issues that my delegates have to deal with, particularly around authorised applications, is having to sort of peer below the meniscus layer of the application to see what is going on around the claimant group and around the processes of authorisation...

Sometimes we have insufficient information, and we proceed on the basis that we do have some duty to inquire, and we go back to applicants and their representatives and say, 'It is not quite clear what was going on at that authorisation meeting; can you provide some further details?' I have to say that some of the affidavits that come in are very sparing in describing what has been going on in authorisation and the arrangements that were being made, and I think it is fair to say that, historically, information has, in some instances, been light on.³⁵

3.32 The NNTC supported aspects of item 88, which would insert proposed section 84D into the Native Title Act. Proposed section 84D seeks to clarify the powers of the Federal Court in relation to authorisation issues. The NNTC supported allowing the Court to hear and determine an application despite a defect in authorisation. However, the NNTC argued that proposed paragraphs 84D(2)(b) and (c), which would allow applications for the production of evidence to be made by any party to the proceeding, or any member of the claim or compensation group, could be open to abuse. The

³³ Submission 5, pp 1-2.

³⁴ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 3.

³⁵ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 13.

NNTC therefore suggested that the proposed provision require the application for production of evidence of authorisation to show cause to the Court why such an order should be made.³⁶

3.33 The Carpentaria Land Council commented that the proposed section 84D provides 'some clarity regarding situations where there are questions surrounding the authorisation of applications'. However, it considered that the proposed section should more specifically address situations where a defective authorisation may be rectified and how this could occur, rather than leaving it entirely to the Court to determine.³⁷

Determinations for part of an area: section 87A

3.34 A number of submissions also discussed the proposed amendments to section 87A, contained in item 91 of Schedule 1. Section 87A enables the Court to make a determination over part of a claim area where some, but not all, parties agree to the determination. Section 87A requires the consent of certain parties to the proceeding, including each person who holds a *registered proprietary interest* in the determination area.

3.35 During the committee's inquiry into the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006, concerns were expressed that this provision may exclude persons with significant interests in the determination area, such as owners of infrastructure installed under statutory powers. This would include the owners of telecommunications networks, and electricity and gas distribution systems. Recommendation 9 of the committee's report on that bill therefore recommended that the Australian Government consider amendments to section 87A in the technical amendments to the Native Title Act.³⁸ Item 91 proposes to repeal and replace subparagraph 87A(1)(c)(v) in response to these concerns.

3.36 In particular, proposed subparagraph 87A(1)(c)(v) would provide that each person who:

- (a) holds an interest (*rather than a registered proprietary interest*) in relation to land or waters in any part of the determination area at the time the agreement is made; and
- (b) is a party to the proceedings,

must consent before a determination may be made under section 87A.

3.37 The term 'interest, in relation to land or waters' is defined in section 253 of the Native Title Act. According to the Explanatory Memorandum, most parties to the

³⁶ *Submission* 5, p. 3.

³⁷ *Submission 7*, pp 3-4.

³⁸ See Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee, *Report on the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006 [Provisions]*, February 2007, pp 51-52, 56.

proceeding holding an interest that falls within the determination area will be required to consent to a determination under section 87A as amended.³⁹

3.38 Ergon Energy agreed with the proposed amendments to section 87A, but suggested that the amendments could go further. Ergon Energy was concerned that the definition of 'interest in relation to land or waters' in section 253 would not be sufficient to cover its interest in inherited electricity infrastructure where the original legal or statutory basis for the installation of that infrastructure is unclear.⁴⁰

3.39 Ergon Energy suggested that this uncertainty could be addressed by widening the definition of 'interests in relation to land or waters' in section 253 to include 'a legal or equitable interest in, or right to operate, any infrastructure facility on the land or waters.⁴¹

3.40 By contrast, the NNTC felt that the original version of 87A contained in the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006 was 'adequate and appropriate'. The NNTC expressed its view that the existing definition of 'interest' in section 253 is 'so wide as to potentially frustrate parties with a real (as opposed to a merely theoretical) interest from being able to negotiate a sensible consent determination'.⁴² The NNTC therefore proposed that:

...in order to balance the considerations, the proposed section could be amended to vest in the Federal Court a discretion in terms that it could require that consent is required from a party holding an interest in the land or waters where the Court is satisfied that the party's interest is likely to be affected by the proposed agreement.⁴³

3.41 Similarly, the Minerals Council opposed the proposed amendment to section 87A, recommending that the requirement for a registered proprietary interest should remain. In fact, the Minerals Council considered that the proposed amendment is 'both unnecessary and potentially destabilising'.⁴⁴ The Minerals Council argued that the amendment:

• removes the existing registration test applied to ensure that parties to a consent determination process have genuine and specific interests that will be

³⁹ However, persons with an interest in relation to an area of the claim outside the determination area and persons with an interest in the determination area that is not an interest *in relation to land or waters* (such as persons who only have rights of access held by all members of the public) will not be required to agree to the determination being made: EM, p. 53.

⁴⁰ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 7.

⁴¹ Submission 3, p. 2; Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 7.

⁴² *Submission 5*, p. 3; see also Mr Martin Dore, North Queensland Land Council, *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, pp 3-4.

⁴³ Submission 5, p. 3.

⁴⁴ *Submission* 8, p. 2.

impacted on by the determination process, beyond the general rights and interests of all Australians; and

• enables parties, who are not a registered interest, to come late into the consent determination process, which has the potential to derail negotiations and delay outcomes of negotiations which may have already substantially progressed.⁴⁵

Department response

3.42 A representative of the Attorney-General's Department explained the competing interests the proposed amendment of section 87A was seeking to balance:

Certainly, the intention of the reforms generally is to seek to expedite the way in which the native title processes can operate. It was certainly desirable to ensure that only parties who have real and significant interests should be required to consent, with the safeguards that all other parties still have the entitlement to object to the process and the court still has to decide whether it is willing to make the determination notwithstanding the objections that might be made.⁴⁶

3.43 The Department also submitted:

At this stage we do not see a need to make a specific exemption for infrastructure. We think that the sort of interests that Ergon is talking about would be covered. I also note that they have some questions about tenure in any event. Providing there was sufficient government executive power at the time to carry out the relevant act, we think there that would be sufficient to bring it within legal interest.⁴⁷

Alternative state regimes

3.44 HREOC also raised concerns in relation to items 62 and 63 of Schedule 1, which seek to clarify the scope of alternative state regimes under section 43 of the Native Title Act.⁴⁸ The Explanatory Memorandum explains that section 43:

...enables a State or Territory to establish right to negotiate procedures which operate to the exclusion of the provisions in the Native Title Act where the Commonwealth Minister is satisfied the alternative provisions meet statutory criteria set out in subsection 43(2). The key amendments put beyond doubt the validity of the current South Australian section 43 determinations in relation to mining and opal mining (made in 1995 and 1997 respectively) which had the effect of replacing the Native Title Act

⁴⁵ *Submission* 8, p. 2.

⁴⁶ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 19.

⁴⁷ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, pp 19-20.

⁴⁸ *Submission 10*, pp 5-6.

right to negotiate provisions with a right to negotiate regime under South Australian legislation.⁴⁹

3.45 However, HREOC argued that items 62 and 63 'cannot be called technical amendments'. HREOC was concerned 'at the proposed inclusion of provisions to retrospectively validate actions done in contravention of the provisions of the Act.'⁵⁰ In particular, HREOC noted that:

The reasoning for the adjustment being made does not indicate that there is any confusion over the scope of a permissible alternative State regime. It is purely to address the operation of an alternative State regime that was unlawfully made.⁵¹

3.46 HREOC suggested that such retrospective validation of invalidly done future acts has undermined Indigenous confidence in the Native Title Act in the past. HREOC therefore urged the committee to recommend that the relevant items not be enacted, or at the very least, that any amendments should be as narrow as possible in scope, and should follow extensive consultation with affected Indigenous peoples.⁵²

Other issues

Order dismissing an application relating to a future act: section 94C

3.47 The NNTT raised an issue in relation to section 94C of the Native Title Act.⁵³ Section 94C requires the Federal Court to dismiss certain claimant applications that are deemed to be in response to a future act notice where the relevant future act has been finalised. Under paragraphs 94C(1)(b) and (c), the application must have been made and registered within a certain timeframe measured in relation to the 'notification day' specified in the future act notice.

3.48 However, the NNTT explained, that prior to 30 September 1998, future act notices did not contain a notification day. The NNTT was therefore concerned no application made before that date would be covered by section 94C. The NNTT also pointed out that future act notices under alternate provisions applying in South Australia do not contain a notification day. Again, the NNTT was concerned that applications lodged in response to those notices would not be covered by section 94C. The NNTT argued that the policy intention behind section 94C was that applications made in response to these future act notices should be covered by section 94C.

- 50 Submission 10, p. 5.
- 51 Submission 10, p. 5.
- 52 *Submission 10*, p. 6.

⁴⁹ EM, p. 36.

⁵³ Note that section 94C was inserted by the Native Title Amendment Act 2007 and is not being amended by this Bill.

⁵⁴ *Submission 4*, p. 2.

3.49 The NNTT proposed that this 'defect' could be remedied by amending section 94C to cover applications lodged in response to:

- future act notices given before 30 September 1998 and registered within two months of when the notice was given; or
- a South Australian future act notice and registered within two months of when that notice was given,

where the relevant future act is now finalised.⁵⁵

Department response

3.50 The Attorney-General's Department noted that the number of applications excluded by the drafting of section 94C was greater than initially thought and that, as a result, the government is considering whether amendments to the Bill may be required.⁵⁶

Low impact future acts: section 24LA

3.51 Both the NSW Government and the Local Government Association of Queensland (LGAQ) pointed out that a proposal to amend section 24LA of the Native Title Act was included in the second discussion paper released by the Attorney-General's Department, but has not been included in the Bill.⁵⁷

3.52 Section 24LA currently permits certain future acts which have a minimal effect on native title to be done without the need to comply with any procedural requirements. For example, subsection 24LA(2) allows excavation or clearing undertaken for the protection of public health or safety, or for environmental protection, to be carried out as a low impact future act. However, such acts may not be carried under this provision after a determination native title exists over the land.⁵⁸

3.53 The second discussion paper released by the Attorney-General's Department contained a proposal to amend section 24LA to cover acts carried out after a native title determination has been made and, in particular:

...to allow such acts to be carried out by or on behalf of Government authorities for reasons of public health or safety or environmental

⁵⁵ *Submission 4*, p. 2; see also President, National Native Title Tribunal, *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, pp 11 and 12.

⁵⁶ *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 18.

⁵⁷ LGAQ, *Submission 1*, p. 1; NSW Government, *Submission 9*, p. 3; see also paragraphs 30 and 31 of the second discussion paper: Attorney-General's Department and FaCSIA, *Submission 6*, Attachment C.

⁵⁸ Attorney-General's Department and FaCSIA, *Submission 6*, Attachment C, paragraph 30.

protection, but only in circumstances where the determined native title holders do not have exclusive rights over the relevant land.⁵⁹

3.54 Both the New South Wales Government and LGAQ suggested that this amendment should be re-considered for inclusion in the Bill.⁶⁰ In particular, the LGAQ submitted that, if the proposed amendment is not made, local councils will have to either:

- enter into negotiations with each claimant group in its local government area with a view to reaching an Indigenous Land Use Agreement; or
- issue notices to native title holders at least 28 days prior to undertaking any 'low impact' work regardless of public health and safety issues.⁶¹

3.55 LGAQ argued that 'either option represents a significant outlay of resources, significant loss of productive time, and an onerous administrative burden'.⁶²

Department response

3.56 The committee received evidence regarding consultation the Attorney-General's Department had conducted in relation to the proposal to amend section 24LA:

We thought that it seemed like a sensible proposal, and that is why we initially floated it for consultation. We had some very strong responses to that from a range of parties—both stakeholders on the native title representative side as well as the Law Council...When we inquired further about that proposal with the Local Government Association of Queensland, they indicated that there had in fact been no practical problems with the way in which these provisions currently operate. It was simply a theoretical problem that they were concerned about. Given the very strong concerns that had been raised, it did not seem appropriate to seek to move this amendment forward to address what was only a theoretical problem where no practical issues had arisen to date.⁶³

Replacement and removal of applicants: section 66B

3.57 Item 82 of Schedule 1 proposes to amend section 66B of the Native Title Act to 'streamline the process for replacing the native title applicant in claims'.⁶⁴

⁵⁹ Submission 6, Attachment C, paragraph 31.

⁶⁰ LGAQ, Submission 1, p. 1; NSW Government, Submission 9, p. 3.

⁶¹ Submission 1, p. 2.

⁶² *Submission 1*, p. 2 cf Mr Martin Dore, North Queensland Land Council, *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 4.

⁶³ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 19.

⁶⁴ EM, p. 6.

3.58 However, the Carpentaria Land Council expressed the view that the proposed amendments to section 66B would not improve the process for any of the parties involved:

....to replace applicants under s 66B an authorisation meeting is generally required. The costs in terms of money, staff and other resources to NTRBs for authorisation meetings are usually high and therefore unlikely to occur in such circumstances...Therefore, the practical consequences of the amended s 66B will be the same as they are now, that those who no longer wish to be applicants will be applicants in name only and deceased and incapacitated applicant's names will also still remain on the register.⁶⁵

3.59 Carpentaria Land Council suggested that the removal of applicants who consent to their removal, or who are deceased or incapacitated, should be dealt with separately to section 66B:

The process in these two cases (where an applicant consents to their removal and where an applicant is deceased or incapacitated) should and could be as simple as filing an application (Notice of Motion) in the Court along with a supporting affidavit from an applicant who no longer wishes to retain that role and a supporting affidavit from a legal representative or applicant attaching a death certificate or medical certificate to remove a deceased or incapacitated applicant.⁶⁶

3.60 The NNTC was concerned that the proposed amendments to section 66B only referred to the *replacement* of applicants on claimant applications, and did not clearly cover the *removal* of the name of a deceased applicant. The NNTC therefore suggested clarifications to the proposed amendments to subsection 66B(1) to ensure that it covers the removal of the name of a deceased applicant, not just the replacement of such applicants.⁶⁷

Multiple future act notices

3.61 Item 56 of Schedule 1 would amend subsection 29(8) of the Native Title Act, which relates to notification of multiple future acts in the same notice. The Explanatory Memorandum states:

Existing subsection 29(8) enables the Government party to give notice to the public of two or more acts to which Subdivision P applies in the same notice. There is no equivalent provision to enable notice to be given of two or more acts to specific persons. The requirement to give individual notices in relation to each future act is inefficient. Item 56 would insert proposed subsection 29(8) which would provide that the Commonwealth Minister may determine the circumstances and manner in which persons under

⁶⁵ *Submission* 7, p. 2.

⁶⁶ *Submission 7*, p. 3; see also Mr Martin Dore, North Queensland Land Council, *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 4.

⁶⁷ Submission 5, p. 2: see item 82, Schedule 1.

subsection 29(2) may be given notice of two or more acts in the same notice. This determination would be a legislative instrument.⁶⁸

3.62 HREOC expressed concern that such notices could be issued in a manner that:

(a) required native title holders and their representative bodies to wade through many notifications that were irrelevant to them; and

(b) would make it more likely that important notifications will slip through the cracks. 69

3.63 For example, HREOC told the committee that 'at least one State has to date commonly given blanket notification to representative bodies of hundreds of licences at the one time'. HREOC suggested that this amendment:

...could be easily improved by placing conditions or restrictions on the use of s.29 notices that notify more than one proposed future act. The provision as drafted could be modified so that a s.29 notice may only contain notice of more than one Subdivision P future act if each of the future acts notified affects land claimed by the one native title claim group, or, at the least, land within the one representative body area.⁷⁰

Department response

3.64 A representative of the Attorney-General's Department advised the committee that the government intended to set out the requirements for future act notifications in the determination made under proposed subsection 29(8):

The bill envisages that there will be a notices determination made by the Attorney and that determination will cover the conditions that should be imposed on future act notices, in particular, ensuring that there is a reasonable provision in the way in which such notifications are given to enable a PBC or NTRB to reasonably readily determine what the pieces of land are that are going to be affected.⁷¹

Other issues

- 3.65 The NNTC also raised a number of other issues. For example, it:
- opposed the proposal to validate automatic weather stations as a facility for service to the public on the basis that this would be a 'further incursion into native title rights and interests';⁷²

⁶⁸ EM, p. 33.

⁶⁹ *Submission 10*, p. 4.

⁷⁰ *Submission 10*, p. 4.

⁷¹ Committee Hansard, 2 May 2007, p. 26.

⁷² Submission 5, p. 1: see proposed paragraph 24KA(2)(la) – Item 34 of Schedule 1.

- supported the proposal to allow respondent parties to withdraw without leave at any time prior to the commencement of a substantive hearing. However, it suggested that any party (including other respondents) should be able to seek costs upon the withdrawal, and that a like right to withdraw should be accorded to applicants;⁷³ and
- noted that proposals referred to in the second discussion paper (paras 16-20) to provide for amendments of ILUAs were not included in the Bill.⁷⁴

3.66 The Carpentaria Land Council welcomed the amendment to encourage the Native Title Registrar to apply the registration test in a timely manner. At the same time, it suggested that the wording requiring the Registrar to use his or her 'best endeavours' to finish considering a claim was too weak. However, it is noted that this wording reflects the wording of the existing section 190A.⁷⁵

3.67 Finally, a number of drafting errors in the Bill were identified during the committee's inquiry.⁷⁶ A representative of the Attorney-General's Department advised that the government was addressing these errors.⁷⁷

Committee view

3.68 The committee is pleased to note that the proposed amendments in the Bill have been the subject of extensive consultation and, in particular, that FaCSIA and the Attorney-General's Department have made adjustments to the proposals now embodied in the Bill in response to feedback from stakeholders.⁷⁸

3.69 The committee also acknowledges that the proposed amendment of section 87A, which provides for consent determinations over part of a claim area, seeks to address recommendation 9 of its report regarding the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006.⁷⁹ The committee received conflicting evidence in relation to this amendment. Some parties suggested that the amendment to broaden the range of parties who must consent to a determination, to include those who hold unregistered or non-proprietary interests in relation to land and waters, would not capture all significant interest holders. Other parties considered that the amendments went too far. The NNTC suggested that section 87A should require consent from parties with an interest in relation to land and waters where the Court is satisfied that the party's interest is likely

- 77 *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, pp 18 and 20.
- 78 See *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, pp 18 and 22.
- 79 See Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee, *Report on the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006 [Provisions]*, February 2007, pp 51-52, 56.

⁷³ *Submission 5*, p. 2: see proposed subsection 84(6A) – Item 87 of Schedule 1.

Submission 5, p. 4; see also NSW Government, Submission 9, pp 2-3.

⁷⁵ *Submission 7*, p. 4.

⁷⁶ See for example, HREOC, *Submission 10*, p. 7; and also paragraph 4(b) of Item 138 of Schedule 1.

to be affected by the proposed agreement.⁸⁰ In the view of the committee, this proposal strikes an appropriate balance between the need to efficiently resolve native title matters and the need to protect those with substantive interests in the claim area.

3.70 The committee heard a variety of views on the issue of whether reviews of the decision of the Native Title Registrar not to register a claim should be carried out by the Registrar and his delegates or by a Member of the NNTT. The committee considers that it would be more appropriate for reconsideration of registration decisions under proposed section 190E to be conducted by a Member of the NNTT. In particular, the committee accepts that applicants would have greater confidence in the independence of the review if it were conducted by a Member.

3.71 The committee considers that there is some ambiguity in the interaction between proposed sections 190E and 190F. It does appear that the provisions would currently permit an applicant to apply to the Court for review of the Registrar's decision not to accept a claim while the NNTT was conducting an internal review of that decision under proposed section 190E. The committee recommends that the provisions be amended to ensure that review by the NNTT does not occur in parallel with an application to the Court.

3.72 The committee accepts evidence from FaCSIA that the amendments in relation to the charging of fees by PBCs for the performance of their statutory functions are necessary in order to regularise the existing practice of parties negotiating with PBCs. In its report on the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006, the committee recommended that the Australian Government finalise and implement proposed funding arrangements for PBCs as a high priority.⁸¹ The committee welcomes advice that the Australian Government is currently preparing guidelines for funding of the operational costs of PBCs in certain circumstances.

3.73 The NNTC suggested that the regulation-making power in proposed subsection 59(1) should be limited to ensure that non-Indigenous people cannot be members of PBCs. The committee considers that the issue of the appropriate membership of a PBC is best left to the native title holders. In particular, it is possible that native title holders may wish to accord non-voting membership to non-Indigenous spouses or advisors.

3.74 It was clear from evidence to the committee that there is a need to establish a mechanism providing for a default PBC where the native title holders fail to nominate a PBC or a PBC is wound up. FaCSIA advised the committee that the intention of the government is that regulations providing for the determination of a default PBC would designate the Federal Court as the body responsible for determining the PBC. The committee is strongly of the view that the Court is the appropriate body to determine

⁸⁰ Submission 5, p.3.

⁸¹ See Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Committee, *Report on the Native Title Amendment Bill 2006 [Provisions]*, February 2007, pp 35-36, 51.

PBCs and accepts this assurance that the government intends to provide for the Court to determine PBCs under the regulations. While the committee is mindful of concerns that the native title holders should not be dictated to in relation to the legal entity which represents their native title interests, it seems appropriate to make provision for the determination of a replacement body in the narrow circumstances envisaged. Furthermore, the initiatives to address the funding needs of PBCs should ensure the sustainability of PBCs and reduce the need for recourse to these provisions.

3.75 Evidence to the committee suggested that the proposed process for the removal of applicants who consent to removal, or who are deceased or incapacitated, could be further simplified. In the committee's view, there is some merit in the suggestion that the Native Title Act should separately provide for the removal of an applicant where there is no need for replacement of that applicant.

3.76 The committee notes the concerns of HREOC in relation to the amendments relating to alternative state regimes and, in particular, the provisions to put beyond doubt the validity of the current systems for approving mining and opal mining in South Australia.⁸² However, the committee supports their enactment given that the amendments simply seek to place on a firm footing the understanding parties have been operating upon to date.

3.77 The NNTC submitted that where a party seeks a Court order, under proposed section 84D, requiring an applicant to produce evidence of authorisation, the party seeking the order should be required to show cause why the Court should make the order. In the committee's view, the drafting of this provision already ensures that the Court has a discretion as to whether to make the order. As a result, the Court will be able to require the party seeking the order to provide information as to why the order is required.

3.78 Finally, the committee recommends that the various drafting errors in the Bill, identified during the committee's inquiry, be rectified.

Recommendation 1

3.79 The committee recommends that proposed subparagraph 87A(1)(c)(v) require consent from a party, with an interest in relation to land and waters in the determination area, where the Federal Court is satisfied that the interest is likely to be affected by the proposed determination.

⁸² Items 62, 63, 127, 138 and 139 of Schedule 1.

Recommendation 2

3.80 The committee recommends that proposed section 190F be amended to clarify that an applicant may not apply to the Federal Court for review of the Native Title Registrar's decision not to accept a claim while the National Native Title Tribunal is reconsidering the claim under proposed section 190E.

Recommendation 3

3.81 The committee recommends that proposed section 190E be amended to provide that reconsideration of the Native Title Registrar's decision not to accept a claim should be carried out by a Member of the National Native Title Tribunal.

Recommendation 4

3.82 The committee recommends that the Australian Government consider amending the Bill to provide a separate, simplified process for the removal of an applicant who consents to removal, or who is deceased or incapacitated, where there is no requirement to replace that applicant.

Recommendation 5

3.83 The committee recommends that drafting errors in items 88, 123 and 138 of Schedule 1 of the Bill and section 94C of the Native Title Act be rectified.

Recommendation 6

3.84 Subject to the preceding recommendations, the committee recommends that the Senate pass the Bill.

Senator Guy Barnett

Chair

MINORITY REPORT BY THE AUSTRALIAN LABOR PARTY

1.1 Labor Senators consider that the majority report's recommendations do not go far enough in relation to a number of issues raised during the committee's inquiry.

Alternative State regimes

1.2 Labor is disappointed that the majority report did not adequately address the proposed amendments relating to alternative state regimes.

1.3 Items 62 and 63 of Schedule 1 purportedly seek to 'clarify' the scope of alternative state regimes under section 43 of the Native Title Act.¹ According to the Explanatory Memorandum, the amendments would 'put beyond doubt' the validity of certain South Australian determinations in relation to mining and opal mining.²

1.4 However, as the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (HREOC) stated in its submission, these amendments 'cannot be called technical amendments'. HREOC was concerned that these provisions would 'retrospectively validate actions done in contravention of the provisions of the Act.'³

1.5 Labor agrees with HREOC that such retrospective validation of invalidly done future acts could undermine Indigenous confidence in the Native Title Act.⁴ For that reason, Labor considers that the items in the Bill relating to alternative state regimes should be delayed, pending consultation with native title holders regarding validation of any relevant determinations or acts, and negotiation of just compensation where appropriate.

Additional Recommendation 1

1.6 Labor recommends that amendments in relation to alternative state regimes in items 62, 63, 127, 138 and 139 of Schedule 1 should be delayed, pending consultation with native title holders regarding validation of any relevant invalid determinations or acts.

Default Prescribed Bodies Corporate

1.7 Labor Senators agree that a mechanism is needed for the determination of 'default' Prescribed Bodies Corporate (PBCs) in certain circumstances. However,

¹ EM, p. 7; see also items 127, 138 and 139 of Schedule 1.

² EM, p. 36.

³ Submission 10, p. 5.

⁴ Submission 10, p. 6.

HREOC persuasively outlined its concerns in relation to the default PBC provisions in Schedule 3 of the Bill.⁵

1.8 As the majority report outlines, HREOC's primary concern is that the Federal Court would not necessarily make the choice as to the appropriate body to be the default PBC. Rather, this choice could be made by the regulations, or another person or body. Indeed, HREOC described the proposed amendments to the PBC regulation-making powers as a 'radical shift in the current policy embedded in the Act'.⁶

1.9 During the committee's hearing, a representative of FaCSIA acknowledged that the intention was that the Court would continue to determine PBCs:

Practically speaking...we cannot currently foresee circumstances in which a body other than a court might determine the body. But we thought it useful to put a little bit of scope in this regulation-making power, in case that should prove necessary.⁷

1.10 Labor Senators consider that, if the intention is that the Federal Court would be the body responsible for determining default PBCs, then the regulation-making powers in the Native Title Act should be restricted to reflect this intention. This is simply good legislative policy.

1.11 Labor therefore recommends that the regulation-making powers in items 1, 2, 5 and 6 of Schedule 3 be limited, in line with the government's intention, to ensure that the Federal Court continues to determine prescribed bodies corporate.

Additional Recommendation 2

1.12 Labor recommends that the regulation-making powers in items 1, 2, 5 and 6 of Schedule 3 be restricted to ensure that the Federal Court continues to determine prescribed bodies corporate.

Reasonable fees for PBCs

1.13 Item 7 of Schedule 3 of the Bill implements a fee-for-negotiation scheme which would allow PBCs to charge a fee for expenses it incurs in certain types of negotiations and (as prescribed by regulations) for certain other functions.

1.14 This item was opposed by a number of groups, for different reasons. Ergon Energy was generally supportive, but wanted an exception for bodies that are negotiating with a PBC to build infrastructure for the benefit of the local community. The National Native Title Council (NNTC) stated that the scheme is discriminatory and that registered native title bodies corporate (RNTBCs) should be able to charge

⁵ HREOC, *Submission 10*, pp 7-11.

⁶ HREOC, Submission 10, p. 9.

⁷ *Committee Hansard*, 2 May 2007, p. 25.

fees as they wish. The Minerals Council of Australia strongly argued that the core funding of PBCs and RNTBCs should be provided by the government.

1.15 Labor acknowledges that FaCSIA indicated a need to provide statutory authority for the PBC fee regime, because statutory bodies are not entitled to charge fees for services unless they have explicit or implied authority under the statute.

1.16 However, Labor is generally opposed to the operation of the fee scheme as it presently stands because it does not allow for enough flexibility for RNTBCs. Labor recommends that proposed section 60AB be amended to give PBCs a wide berth to charge fees that are reasonable for the services provided.

Additional Recommendation 3

1.17 Labor recommends that item 7 of Schedule 3 be amended to allow PBCs to charge fees that are reasonable for the services provided.

Non-Indigenous members of PBCs

1.18 In its submission, the NNTC raised a concern that non-Indigenous people could be members of PBCs. The NNTC pointed out that, under the new *Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006*, non-Indigenous people can now be included as members of Aboriginal corporations. Under the proposed new PBC Regulations, PBCs are likely to be Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander corporations under that Act. The NNTC felt that it would be 'entirely inappropriate' for non-Indigenous people to be members of native title bodies such as PBCs, given that native title is based upon Aboriginal traditional law and customs.⁸

1.19 The NNTC therefore recommended that the regulation-making power in proposed subsection 59(1) (as amended by item 5 of Schedule 3) should be restricted by stating that bodies that may be PBCs must not be bodies that have members who are not Indigenous.⁹

1.20 Labor Senators agree that it would be inappropriate for PBCs, whose primary purpose is to administer native title rights and interests on behalf of native title holders, to have non-Indigenous members. We therefore recommend that the Native Title Act be amended to prevent non-Indigenous people being members of a PBC.

Additional Recommendation 4

1.21 Labor recommends that the Native Title Act be amended to prevent non-Indigenous people being members of a prescribed body corporate.

⁸ Submission 5, p. 4.

⁹ *Submission 5*, pp 4-5.

Authorisation processes

1.22 Labor Senators are also concerned with aspects of proposed section 84D of the Native Title Act (see item 88 of Schedule 1). Proposed section 84D seeks to clarify the powers of the Federal Court in relation to authorisation issues. While Labor Senators support the move to allow the Court to hear and determine an application despite a defect in authorisation, we believe the proposed amendments need refining.

1.23 In particular, the committee received evidence from the NNTC that proposed paragraphs 84D(2)(b) and (c) could be open to abuse because they would allow applications for the production of evidence to be made by any party to the proceeding, without showing cause as to why such an order should be made.¹⁰ Labor Senators agree with the NNTC's suggestion that the proposed provision should require the party seeking the order for production of evidence of authorisation to show cause why the Court should make such an order.¹¹

Additional Recommendation 5

1.24 Labor recommends that item 88 of Schedule 1 (proposed section 84D) be amended so that the party seeking an order for the production of evidence of authorisation is required to show cause why the court should make the order.

Senator Patricia Crossin

Senator Linda Kirk

Deputy Chair

Senator Joseph Ludwig

¹⁰ Submission 5, p. 3.

¹¹ Submission 5, p. 3.

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY SENATOR ANDREW BARTLETT

1.1 I support the general thrust of the committee's report and the first 5 recommendations. There are some aspects of the Bill which should improve the operation of the Native Title Act, particularly if the committee's first 5 recommendations are adopted. However, I believe some of the concerns flagged by witnesses and submitters to the inquiry which are not covered by the committee's recommendations should be given further consideration by the Senate before amended legislation is passed.

1.2 In particular, I share the concern raised in the submission from the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (HREOC) regarding default Prescribed Bodies Corporate. Whilst it is true that the Senate has the power to disallow any future regulations in this area which it finds unsatisfactory, I am yet to be convinced that it is justified to open up the potential for regulations to be able to allow a person or body other than a Court to determine a PBC.

1.3 I also believe the concerns raised by HREOC regarding Items 62 and 63 of Schedule 1, which HREOC claims retrospectively validates actions under an alternative state regime, merit further consideration by the Senate.

Senator Andrew Bartlett Australian Democrats

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY THE AUSTRALIAN GREENS

1.1 The Australian Greens support the committee's report and recommendations, however, wish to make some additional comments on two aspects of the Bill.

Alternative state regimes

1.2 The Greens are concerned by the scope of the amendments relating to alternative state right to negotiate regimes. The primary concern is the extent of the retrospective validation of the South Australian section 43 determinations in relation to mining and opal mining.

1.3 The Greens note the submission of HREOC on this point. A key concern is that the amendments provide for retrospective validation not just in respect of validating the grants of the tenements issued by South Australia, pursuant to its alternative provisions, but validates the determinations made by the Commonwealth under section 43 and therefore continues the South Australian provisions in operation.

1.4 The problem with continuing the South Australian provisions is that they appear to not meet the requirements for a valid determination under section 43, either as it is currently, or as the section would be amended by the Bill.

1.5 The Greens agree with HREOC's statement in its submission that retrospective validation:

...has served to undermine Indigenous confidence in the Act, and undermines public confidence in Parliament's respect for and commitment to the rule of law. It is wrong in principle that acts done in contravention of the law, and that adversely affect the rights and interests of others, are later retrospectively validated to avoid the consequences of the resulting invalidity.¹

1.6 While the Greens agree that the invalidity of future acts done under the South Australian regime should be rectified, the Bill should not validate the invalid South Australian regime itself and the amendments should be as narrow in scope as possible.

Amendments relating to prescribed bodies corporate

1.7 The Australian Greens agree with the committee that there is a need to establish a mechanism for providing a default PBC in certain circumstances. However, the Greens note the concerns expressed by HREOC in its submission.

¹ Submission 10, p. 5.

1.8 Essentially there is a concern that the regulations rather than the Court can determine not just the type of PBC to be established, but the actual body corporate that will be the PBC in certain circumstances. Similarly the Bill allows for the regulations to allow for a person or body other than the Court to determine the PBC that will replace the PBC originally determined by the Court. As the committee report notes, HREOC argues this is a:

...radical departure from the existing legal policy by which the determination of the trust or agent PBC is exclusively within the jurisdiction of the Court.²

1.9 The Greens agree with HREOC that the Court is the appropriate body to determine which body corporate will hold the native title, particularly given that:

Recognised native title is all that remains to contemporary traditional owners of the legal title to land that their ancestors had prior to the acquisition of sovereignty by the Imperial Crown.³

1.10 The Greens note the statements by FaCSIA that it was the intention of the Government that the Court would continue to determine PBCs. In light of those comments the Greens cannot see the need for the amendments in the Bill to allow for other persons or bodies to have that role.

Senator Rachel Siewert Australian Greens

³⁸

² *Submission 10*, p. 11.

³ *Submission 10*, p. 11.

APPENDIX 1

SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED

- 1. Local Government Association of Queensland Inc.
- 2. National Indigenous Council
- 3. Ergon Energy Corporation Limited
- 4. National Native Title Tribunal
- 5. National Native Title Council
- 6. Attorney-General's Department and the Department of Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs
- 7. Carpentaria Land Council
- 8. Minerals Council of Australia
- 9. New South Wales Government
- 10. Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission
- 11. ACT Government
- 12. Australians for Native Title and Reconciliation, Queensland Association Incorporated

APPENDIX 2

WITNESSES WHO APPEARED BEFORE THE COMMITTEE

Adelaide, Wednesday 2 May 2007

North Queensland Land Council

Mr Martin Dore, Principal Legal Officer

Ergon Energy Corporation Limited

Mr Neil Webley, Property Acquisition Manager

National Native Title Tribunal

Mr Graeme Neate, President

Mr Christopher Doepel, Registrar

Attorney General's Department

Mr Iain Anderson, First Assistant Secretary, Legal Services and Native Title Division

Ms Tamsyn Harvey, Acting Assistant Secretary, Claims and Legislation Branch, Native Title Unit

Department of Families, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs

Mr Greg Roche, Branch Manager, Land Branch

Ms Rebecca Bigg-Wither, Senior Legal Officer, Land Branch